2001

Carl L. Pingree, James W. Pingree, Wallace B. Pingree, and Joyce P. Sparrow v. The Continental Group of Utah and Leslie W. Van Antwerp, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF CASE

Appellant, Leslie W. Van Antwerp, Jr., appeals  
the Court decision finding him in breach of a lease  
agreement with the plaintiffs and the award of damages.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Honorable John F. Wahlquist, sitting with-  
out a jury, found that the appellant was obligated to pay  
increased rentals of \$900.00 per month and had failed to

make repairs of the premises as requested by respondents and awarded damages for the repairs. Appellant was also dispossessed of the premises effective January 15, 1976.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Leslie W. Van Antwerp, Jr., requests this Court to set aside the decision of the trial court on the grounds that the evidence did not show that appellant was obligated to pay increased rentals or to make the repairs for which damages were awarded.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondents are owners of a restaurant in Roy, Utah, which had been doing business as Ma's and Pa's until 1967. (T 205).

The premises were subsequently leased to Tampicos for a term of five years with rentals of \$1,000.00 per month. (T 205). Tampicos' business lasted approximately seven months and subsequently the business took out bankruptcy. (T 206).

On September 12, 1969, the respondents entered into an Earnest Money Agreement with the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. for the lease of the premises for a five year term, plus two 5-year renewal options. The Earnest

Money Agreement provided rentals of \$500.00 per month, plus three percent of the gross income over \$10,000.00 per month for the first five year period. The renewal periods were to have increased rentals of four percent of the gross income over \$10,000.00 per month in addition to the \$500.00 per month base rental. (Defendants' Exhibit 1).

On September 24, 1969, the respondents executed the formal Lease with the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. The Lease, as adopted, was for a five year term commencing October 1, 1969 and ending September 30, 1974 with two 5-year renewal options. The rentals were \$500.00 per month, plus additional rent of three percent of the gross receipts of the business over \$10,000.00 per month.

The rentals for the renewal periods, by the terms of the Lease, were to be renegotiated with the provision that the maximum total monthly rental would not exceed \$900.00 per month. The Lease specified that, in determining the rent to be paid for the renewal periods, factors of tax increases, cost of business increases or decreases, business volume and success, and insurance costs and other reasonable allowances would be the basis for the renegotiation. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit A).

On May 12, 1972, the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. assigned its interests in the Lease with respondents



to appellant, Leslie W. Van Antwerp, Jr. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit B).

Appellant paid to the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. \$15,000.00 and assumed all responsibility of the Lease, plus all interest in the inventory and fixtures which the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. owned. (Plaintiffs' Exhibits U and V).

Pursuant to the requirement of the Lease, appellant exercised his right to the renewal terms by letter to respondents dated February 21, 1974.

On March 8, 1974, respondents acknowledged receipt of appellant's letter exercising his right for the first renewal period and informed appellant that, pursuant to Exhibit "D" of the Lease, he would be expected to pay monthly rentals of \$900.00 per month commencing October 1, 1974. (Defendants' Exhibit 3).

Subsequent to respondents' March 8th letter, respondents and appellant had some discussions concerning the increased rentals, and appellant had indicated to respondents that the gross volume of the business could not justify paying \$900.00 per month. (T 213).

On September 24, 1974, respondents' attorney wrote to the appellant itemizing twelve specific areas of

disrepair on the premises, and again reminding him that his monthly lease payments would be increased to \$900.00 per month effective October 1, 1974. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit H).

On October 15, 1974, appellant's attorney at that time, Felshaw King, replied to respondents' letter of September 24th denying some of the allegations of disrepair and indicating that others would be remedied. The appellant also told respondents that the rentals for the renewal period, according to the terms of the Lease, were to be renegotiated by the specific factors referred to in the Lease, all of which were in favor of the appellant paying a lower rental than \$900.00 per month. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit I).

On October 19, 1974, the appellant paid his first renewal period rental in the sum of \$900.00 under protest. (Defendants' Exhibit 4).

On November 1, 1974, respondents' attorney wrote to appellant's attorney requesting a conference concerning the increased rental demand, (plaintiffs' Exhibit A), and there was a subsequent meeting in Mr. King's office in Clearfield, Utah. (T 187).

During the course of the meeting between the parties, respondents requested verification of appellant's

claim that the factors to be considered in the renewal rentals, such as cost of business increases and business volume, etc., were in favor of a low rental amount.

(T 188).

On December 17, 1974, appellant's attorney wrote to respondents' attorney stating that (a) real property taxes had declined six percent over the past three years; (b) personal property taxes had remained the same; (c) the cost of doing business had risen eighty-one percent; and (d) business volume had declined twenty-four percent. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit K). These four areas are the facts specifically mentioned in the Lease to determine what the renewal rentals should be. Appellant subsequently furnished documentation of the claims made in the December 17th letter. (Plaintiffs' Exhibits Y and Z).

On December 27, 1974, respondents' attorney wrote to appellant's attorney outlining other factors such as the appraised value of the property and reasonable rentals per square foot of other locations in the area as being the basis for justifying the increased rental of \$900.00 per month. Appellant further refused to consider arbitration as a basis for concluding the controversy. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit L).

During this period of time, appellant was

informed by Roy City that the second floor of the building had no fire exit and the second floor could not continue to be used without the installation of a suitable exit.

This had been ordered by Roy City in January of 1972.

when the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. was in possession of the premises. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit N).

Demand was made upon respondents to install the fire exit pursuant to the Lease provision, paragraph fifteen, that there were no restrictions, covenants, zoning, or other ordinances which would prevent the lessee from conducting its business.

On December 28, 1974, respondents, by letter to appellant's attorney, refused to take any responsibility for the fire escape and demanded that the appellant make the modifications within thirty days. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit O).

The appellant did not put in the fire escape and had to quit using the second floor of the premises, greatly reducing his business.

On February 26, 1975, appellant was served with a Notice dated February 12, 1975, to vacate the premises for failure to correct the deficiencies enumerated in respondents' September 24, 1974 letter. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit R).

On February 25, 1975, respondents initiated legal action against appellant and the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. requesting that the renewal provision of the Lease be declared void for vagueness, or in the alternative, that rents be determined to be payable at the rate of \$900.00 per month. (T 1-6).

On May 10, 1975, respondents made a motion for judgment on the pleadings, and oral argument was held on May 20, 1975. On May 29, 1975, Judge Hyde, pursuant to memorandum decision, ruled that the renewal option of the Lease contained sufficient certainty so as not to be void as a matter of law. (T 14).

Respondents subsequently filed an Amended Complaint realleging the allegations of the original Complaint, and added allegations concerning the failure of appellant to make necessary repairs to the premises.

The matter was tried before the Honorable John F. Wahlquist on December 16, 1974. By memorandum decision, Judge Wahlquist held that the rent should have been negotiated at \$900.00 per month based upon the value of the premises and the failure of appellant's business, and awarded damages for \$400.00 per month, the difference between the \$500.00 that had been paid by the appellant and the \$900.00 requested by respondents, from October 1,

1974 to January 15, 1976. The Court further held that damages should be awarded in the sum of \$4,000.00 for delayed maintenance, which included a pull-down fire escape. No Judgment was entered against the co-defendant, the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. (T 32-39). The Court further ordered appellant to remove himself from the premises by January 15, 1976.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE EVIDENCE FAILED TO PROVE THAT APPELLANT WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DAMAGES AWARDED AGAINST HIM BY THE COURT.

Judge Wahlquist, in his memorandum decision concerning damages for maintenance, stated:

"The Court finds that the current maintenance deficiency presently is approximately \$4,000.00. This includes the failure to install a pull-down fire escape so as to be able to reasonably utilize the premises on the second floor. The Court believes that, clearly under this Lease and the history of the matter, such an improvement would fall on the tenant. The Court recognizes that the estimates for the repairs made by third parties and placed in evidence are correct, but believes that if such repairs were made today, the premises would be in better shape than they were at the time they were rented to the Continental Group of Utah, Inc., but not grossly so. The Court fixes the present delayed maintenance at \$4,000.00."

The items of repair complained of by respondents are itemized in twelve sections by the letter dated September 24, 1974. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit H). Evidence showed the problems in the restrooms were a result of normal wear and tear. The allegations concerning the wallpaper in the coffee shop and the floor tile was repaired by the appellant. The allegations concerning the kitchen linoleum were basically correct. The broken windows complained of were all replaced by appellant. The dumb waiter was repaired each time it became inoperative by the appellant. The walls that were alleged to have been knocked out had to be opened up for access to repair the dumb waiter and other walls had been repaired. The air conditioners were operable. The carpet belonged to the appellant, having been installed by the Continental Group of Utah, Inc., and respondents had no right to complain. The roof tiles and leaks complained of existed at the time the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. took possession of the premises and were a result of the fire in the premises at the time it was operated by Tampicos. The exterior siding was missing when the appellant took possession of the premises. There was a door knob missing, but it could not be matched with the one remaining. The shrubs were in good shape. The premises did not need

repainting. (T 389-395 and T 246-247).

Many of the items mentioned above were in the condition complained of at the time the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. had possession of the premises. (T 244).

The evidence presented by respondents concerning the cost of repairs included siding on the north side of the building, roof tile which needed replacing, two doors in the rear to be replaced, sheet rock replaced in two of the baths and the area of the kitchen, some floor that needed to be repaired, and some walls that needed to be replaced for the estimated cost of \$2,624.00. (T 339).

The majority of the repairs for which the respondents estimate was obtained were items which were in existence at the time appellant took possession of the premises and should have properly been a responsibility of the defendant, the Continental Group of Utah, Inc. The sheet rocking had already been done by the appellant. The bid for the painting was \$1,940.00. (T 347).

The balance of the damages awarded by the Court involved the fire escape exit from the second floor of the premises. It is the appellant's contention that the fire escape was not a proper element of damage since it was not his responsibility to put the fire escape in. The Lease, paragraph fifteen, stated that the lessor



covenanted that there were no restrictive ordinances or regulations which would prevent the lessee from conducting its business. Paragraph twenty-two provided that the lessor and lessee should both promptly comply with all applicable ordinances and regulations of a municipal authority pertaining to the use and occupancy of the premises. Appellant contends that as a very minimum, the fire escape was a joint responsibility of the respondents. Beyond that, the appellant has been dispossessed of the premises and there was no evidence that the respondents were going to continue to use the premises in such a manner that the fire escape would be a requirement. Certainly, if appellant chose not to use the second floor, he should not be required to put in a fire escape for the benefit of the respondents.

#### POINT II

THE COURT ERRORED IN AWARDING DAMAGES BASED ON A RENEWAL RENTAL RATE OF \$900.00 PER MONTH.

The renewal provision of the Lease, Exhibit "D", provides that the rental amount of the Lease for the renewal period was to be renegotiated with a maximum total monthly rental not to exceed \$900.00 per month. The Lease specified as follows:

"Factors of tax increase, business volume and success, insurance costs, and other reasonable allowances will be the basis for term of negotiation."

All of the specified factors, with the exception of insurance costs paid by respondents, were in favor of the appellant. The real estate taxes which were the responsibility of respondents, had decreased slightly during the term of the lease. (T 297). The business volume and success had decreased twenty-four percent. (Defendants' Exhibit 6). Costs of business had increased an average of eighty-one percent. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit Y). The only possible added burden on the respondents was a minor amount of insurance premium increase, but even that was not clear. (T 234-235).

Respondents introduced evidence to show that \$500.00 per month was not a current fair rental value for property with comparable square footage in that location.

Judge Wahlquist held that respondents were justified in demanding \$900.00 per month as the fair rent. The Court gave no reason for arriving at that figure, and it is submitted that it is not consistent with the evidence produced at trial.

As a general rule, in construing provisions relating to renewals where there is any uncertainty, the

tenant is favored and not the landlord because the latter, having the power of stipulating his own favor, has neglected to do so, and also upon the principle that every man's grant is to be taken most strongly against himself. See Smith v. Russ, 184 P. 2d 286, and Edwards v. Tobin, 132 Or. 38, 284 P. 562.

The obvious value in executing a lease for a specified period of time as opposed to a month-to-month tenancy is to allow the lessee a guarantee of a specific period of time in the premises with advance knowledge of rentals to be paid and the lessor has the benefit of knowing that the premises are rented and the rentals that will be received.

It is also generally agreed that if the intention of the lessor and lessee as to the propriety of giving consideration to particular factors or elements can be divined from the language of the lease, such intention will be ascertained and enforced by the courts.

It is obvious that the trial court paid no attention to the factors specifically mentioned in the Lease for consideration of the renegotiation and only considered the fair rental value of the premises as of the date of the trial.

In Young v. Nelson, 121 Wash. 285, 209 P. 515 (1922), the Court, in upholding the decree of the trial judge, stated that a lessor would not be allowed to maintain an action for eviction if he fails to renew upon a reasonable rental when the lease provided for a five year extension at such rental as may be agreed upon by the lessor and lessee. In Diettrich v. J. J. Newberry Company, 172 Wash. 18, 19 P. 2d 115 (1933), the Court rejected the lessor's argument that he was entitled to a rental for a renewal period of an amount equal to what any other responsible party would pay. The Court stated:

"This does not seem to us to be the proper theory. At the time the lease was first made, the lessors, in effect, agreed that the property might be leased for a fixed price over the initial term and for what it was reasonably worth over the extension period. To consider what the leased property would be worth when taken in conjunction with adjoining or other properties, cannot be a sound basis for determining the rental value. Under the lease, the specific property alone was considered, and in determining the rental value under the extension term, this should be the sole test."

See also Graseck v. Bankers Trust Company, 315 Mich. 650, 24 N. W. 2d 426 (1946).

All of these cases involve a renewal option with rentals to be renegotiated by agreement of the parties. None of the cases had the benefit of having specified factors to be used in considering the basis for the rental negotiation. As was stated in Hall v. Weatherford, 32 Ariz. 370, 259 P. 282, options to renew granted to the lessee are obviously for his benefit and, it is presumed, are part of the consideration which induced him to execute the lease.

It has also been held that where an agreement to renew contained in a lease is independent from other covenants such as to keep the premises in repair, it does not release the lessor from his obligation to renew or extend, even if the covenant to keep premises in repair is breached. See Parsons v. Ball, 205 Ky. 793, 266 S. W. 649. Therefore, the respondents could not use their complaints concerning maintenance of the premises as grounds for failure to reasonably renegotiate the new rentals.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN NOT AWARDING TREBLE DAMAGES TO RESPONDENTS.

The respondents, in the statement of points in their cross-appeal, have stated that the lower court

errored in concluding that they were not entitled to treble damages pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, 1953, 78-36-10.

First, the Notice to vacate is deficient on its face in not requiring, in the alternative, the performance of the conditions of which they complain, or surrender of the property.

Second, respondents' Notice to vacate was only premised upon appellant's failure to make certain repairs. That would be the only claim which would be within the provisions of the unlawful detainer statute. The appellant had continued to pay the monthly rentals of \$500.00 per month and was not in an unlawful detainer situation by refusing to pay the higher rental demanded by respondents.

There has never been any claim by respondents that appellant was unlawfully detaining the premises by his failure to pay the increased rentals as demanded.

It has been held that the damages which are contemplated by the treble damages provision of the statute must be the natural and proximate consequences of the unlawful detainer and nothing more. See Forrester v. Cook, 77 U. 137, 292 P. 206.

Since the respondents' claim under the unlawful

detainer statute is based upon allegations of disrepair, they must show that additional damages occurred as a result of appellant's failure to remove himself from the premises. This was not done.


CONCLUSION

It is submitted that the damages awarded for delayed maintenance were excessive in light of the evidence and many of them should have been awarded against the defendant, the Continental Group of Utah, Inc.

The Court failed to consider the factors specified in the Lease in determining increased rentals for the renewal period and erred in holding that the rentals should have been \$900.00 per month.


Treble damages are not applicable to the facts of this case since there is no evidence to show that respondents were damaged by appellant's holdover in the specific area of delayed maintenance.