2000

Carl L. Pingree, James W. Pingree, Wallace B. Pingree, and Joyce P. Sparrow v. The Continental Group of Utah and Leslie W. Van Antwerp : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF CASE

This case includes claims for declaratory judgment,
unlawful detainer, damages and accounting.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Honorable John F. Wahlquist, sitting without a
jury, entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and
Judgment and Decree which set the rental for the first
renewal term of the lease at \$900 per month, found that the

appellant was in unlawful detention of the premises for breach of lease covenants, awarded damages, ordered that an accounting be made and that appellant vacate the premises as of January 15, 1976. Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of Judgment was denied. The Judgment and Decree was appealed by defendant, and plaintiffs cross-appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL AND CROSS-APPEAL

Plaintiffs, respondents, and cross-appellants request this Court to reverse, modify or affirm the trial court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment and Decree as follows:

1. Reverse and delete Finding of Fact No. 59, which reads, "The uncertain lease situation is not the type that the legislature had in mind in fixing treble damages for unlawful holdover."
2. Modify Findings of Fact Nos. 60 and 64 to permit respondents to recover treble damages for unlawful holdover of the premises from and after March 4, 1975, to and including January 15, 1976, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated 1953, §78-36-1, et seq.
3. Reverse part of Conclusion of Law No. 16 and all of Conclusion of Law No. 18(k) so as to permit the

recovery of treble damages from and after March 4, 1975, to and including January 15, 1976, for unlawful holdover of the premises.

4. Modify part of Conclusion of Law No. 14 and all of Conclusion of Law No. 18(g) so as to award respondents treble damages for unlawful holdover of the premises from and after March 4, 1975, to January 15, 1976.

5. Modify paragraphs No. 2 and No. 5 of the Judgment and Decree so as to award respondents and cross-appellants judgment for treble damages as a result of the unlawful holdover.

6. Reverse and delete paragraph No. 6 of the Judgment and Decree.

7. Affirm the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment and Decree in all other respects.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs, respondents, and cross-appellants (hereinafter referred to as "respondents") disagree with defendant, appellant, and cross-respondent's (hereinafter referred to as "appellant") Statement of Facts in several material respects. The controlling facts in the view of the respondents are set forth below.

The respondents are the owners of a restaurant located at 5418 South 1900 West, Roy, Utah (T.190, Complaint para. 1-4, Answer para. 1-4). This property is located within the main Roy City shopping district (T.191). Respondents' predecessor-in-interest, Ma's & Pa's Place, a Utah corporation ("Ma's & Pa's"), operated this restaurant until sometime during 1967 or 1968 (T.174, 205).

The restaurant building was erected in 1948 (T.205) on a lot 225 feet deep and 158 feet wide fronting on the east side of 1900 West (T.208, Plaintiffs' Exhibit A). This street is the main north-south thoroughfare in Roy, Utah (T.355). Within a block to the north of the premises is the Riverdale Road junction, and to the south is the Roy I-15 exit (T.190, 355).

To the south is located a Denny's restaurant, Roy Lumber Company, Taco Time, the Rainbow Bar, a gas station and a motel. On the north side is D & B Garage and at the Riverdale Road junction, Roy Auto (T.217, 218). Up until the time Ma's & Pa's ceased operating the restaurant, it was the only restaurant in the immediate vicinity on the east side of the street (T.218).

The premises were subsequently leased to the Hicks to operate a Tampico restaurant (T.175, 205, 372). This

lease was for a five year term with rentals of \$1,000 per month (T.175, 205, 206). After the business had been operating approximately seven months, the Hicks took out bankruptcy (T.206).

The Continental Group of Utah, Inc. ("Continental"), had obtained a national "Paul Bunyan" restaurant franchise (T.191, 192, 274). On September 12, 1969, the respondents entered into an Earnest Money Lease Agreement with Continental to lease the premises for a five year term, plus two five-year renewal options (T.177, 239). The Earnest Money Agreement provided for rentals of \$500 per month, plus 3 percent of the gross sales over \$10,000 per month for the initial five year period. In succeeding renewal periods, the base rent was left at \$500 per month while the percentage rental was increased to 4 percent of gross sales over \$10,000 per month (Defendant's Exhibit 1).

After the Earnest Money Agreement had been executed, Continental revised the Hicks-Tampico lease (T.175-177), and this revised lease was executed by the parties on September 24, 1969 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit A). Contrary to the terms of the Earnest Money Agreement, this lease called for the renegotiation of the rentals for each successive renewal term

with the proviso that the maximum monthly rent be fixed at \$900 per month. In addition, Continental negotiated for and obtained the right to terminate the lease upon 90 days notice (T.211, para. 4 of Exhibit C to Plaintiffs' Exhibit A) in the event it was unable to make more than \$10,000 per month (T.211). In fact, Continental represented to Ma's & Pa's that it would vacate the premises if gross sales dropped below \$10,000 per month (T.211) since the corporation would be losing money at that sales level. This was agreeable to Ma's & Pa's since it was losing money by renting the premises for less than \$900 per month (T.212).

At the time Continental obtained possession of the premises, they were in good condition (T.199, 244, 269-270, 277-278). Although the building had been constructed in 1948 (T.205), the exterior had recently been repainted and the building interior had been completely remodeled and repainted by the Hicks (T.198). During the Hicks occupancy, there had been a small fire in the kitchen (T.199). Following the Hicks occupancy, the building was completely cleaned and scrubbed down (T.199-200). The floors and the paint were in good condition and repair (T.200, 277), and the restrooms were in good repair and in operation (T.200, 243-245).

The interior decor of the building did not suit Continental. It undertook at its own cost (T.202) to remodel the main dining room and the coffee shop, remove the upstairs dance floor, relocate the public restrooms, and add a walk-in box (T.201-202, 240-242).

Continental was to do the necessary remodeling and maintain all things in the restaurant. "[W]e would take care of everything. If there was [sic] any repairs to be done, or anything like that we would take care of them, and we did." (T.240)

The original lease between Continental and Ma's & Pa's did not include glassware, silverware and other items. Continental anticipated receiving these items as part of the franchise package. When it was determined that these items were not part of the franchise, Continental arranged to lease these items, which had an original cost in excess of \$10,000 (T.222), from Ma's & Pa's for \$25 per month (T.193, 248-49, Plaintiffs' Exhibit M). As a part of the leases, the sum of \$1,500 was placed on deposit in the Bank of Utah to cover breakage, loss, damage and the last month's rent (T.223-224, 249, 270-272, 380).

During the time Continental operated a restaurant on the premises, the Roy City Fire Department notified them

that exterior fire exits needed to be installed on the second floor (T.252-253, 325, Plaintiffs' Exhibits N and W). Although the premises had been inspected by the Roy City Fire Department on several prior occasions, no mention had ever been made of the need for second floor fire exits (T.251-253, 325). Roy City had adopted a new fire code in 1965 (T.324); however, since the building had been built prior to 1965, no new fire exits were required (T.327) until the fire chief concluded the existing conditions constituted a distinct hazard to life and property (T.328).

This change occurred in 1972 due to the fact the second floor was being used by a new business for a new and different use (T.324, 328, 331, 332). At trial, Mrs. Rizzuto, the secretary-treasurer of Continental, testified that Ma's & Pa's was never notified of this problem since "we figured that was our responsibility to put it up there." (T.251)

In May, 1972, Continental sold their business to appellant (T.249), who assumed all of their leasehold and other obligations (T.249, 254, Plaintiffs' Exhibits U and V, Defendant's Exhibit 2).

Prior to the sale, appellant inspected the premises and reviewed the operations with Mr. and Mrs. Rizzuto on

several different occasions (T.250-251). Appellant was informed of the obligation to pay the monthly bills after June 1, 1972, rental on the glassware and dishes (T.265), and to repair and keep up the premises (T.254). It was specifically pointed out to him that the kitchen floor (T.256) needed to be repaired and that the fire escapes (T.251) had to be installed. And, as the Weber County Health Inspectors testified, there were other items which needed to be corrected about the time appellant took over the lease (T.310-312). Prior to that time, the inspectors had noted only that the floors were in bad shape and a lavatory sink was in poor repair (T.311). And, as Mrs. Rizzuto indicated, it was the kitchen floors that needed repair (T.256).

During the time Continental operated the restaurant, their monthly gross sales had been seasonally improving. In fact, during the 20 month period of time for which records were available, they failed to pay percentage rental only twice. Their monthly sales (T.259-262) were:

<u>Month</u>	<u>Gross Sales</u>
October, 1970	\$ 13,216
November, 1970	13,241
December, 1970	13,000
January, 1971	12,616

February, 1971	12,870
March, 1971	15,231
April, 1971	13,522
May, 1971	15,051
June 1 to 20, 1971	7,355
July 6 to 31, 1971	8,096
August, 1971	11,200
September, 1971	11,233
October, 1971	12,800
November, 1971	13,044
December, 1971	15,211
January, 1972	11,821
February, 1972	13,044
March, 1972	17,242
April, 1972	16,425
May, 1972	15,529

Prior to October, 1970, Continental had experienced a few months in which gross sales were less than \$10,000 per month (T.257). Throughout this period, Continental had periodically increased its food prices to offset rising food costs due to inflation (T.266-268).

In this context, Ma's & Pa's consented and permitted Continental to assign their leasehold and other obligations to appellant (Plaintiffs' Exhibit B). Although appellant took over a going business, his monthly gross sales started an immediate decline. If appellant's monthly gross sales are compared with Continental's monthly gross sales for the corresponding months of each prior year for which records are available, his monthly gross sales exceed

those of Continental only in the months of June, 1973, and June, 1974. And, he did not pay any percentage rental. His records indicate the following monthly gross sales pattern (T.284-288):

<u>Month</u>	<u>Sales</u>
June, 1972	\$ 11,221.31
July, 1972	7,540.01
August, 1972	10,805.78
September, 1972	9,074.00
October, 1972	9,100.00
November, 1972	9,033.00
December, 1972	11,100.00
January, 1973	6,837.00
February, 1973	9,004.00
March, 1973	9,755.00
April, 1973	8,933.00
May, 1973	11,705.00
June, 1973	7,433.00
July, 1973	6,078.00
August, 1973	8,202.00
September, 1973	7,320.00
October, 1973	10,458.00
November, 1973	10,116.00
December, 1973	12,174.00
January, 1974	7,327.00
February, 1974	8,514.00
March, 1974	10,507.00
April, 1974	10,193.00
May, 1974	11,608.00
June, 1974	7,890.00
July, 1974	7,229.00
August, 1974	8,240.00
September, 1974	7,725.00

During this time, appellant also experienced an 81 percent rise in food costs (T.289, Plaintiffs' Exhibit Y).

He offset this by increasing his prices or by using smaller portions of food (T.290-292, 441-442). This is readily shown by the relatively stable ratio of cost of goods sold to gross sales (T.442).

An examination of appellant's books and records by respondents' accountant disclosed that the restaurant operated at a net loss during 1973 and 1974 (T.438-439). Since appellant's tax returns for 1972 showed major adjustments for accounts receivable and accounts payable not otherwise reflected in their books and records, it was impossible to determine whether the restaurant operated at a net profit or loss during the period (T.437,440). Appellant attributed his immediate decline in monthly gross sales to the ending of the Vietnam War during the latter part of 1972 (T.384).

During appellant's occupancy, more repair items were noted on the health inspectors' reports (T.304-309, 312, 315-318, Plaintiffs' Exhibits AA and BB). As the lease neared an end, an inspection of the premises by the respondents revealed the exterior paint on the building had deteriorated to the point bare wood was exposed (T.180, 345, 354), the furnace room plaster had fallen or been knocked off where the air conditioner had been removed (T.180,

338-340, Plaintiffs' Exhibit C), several broken windows had not been replaced (T.180, 340), the front door had no handle and hadn't been painted (T.181, 354, 393-394), the lights in the entrance hall did not work (T.181), the interior paint was in poor condition (T.181, 345-346), the floor behind the living room staircase and along the serving table was in disrepair (T.181), wallpaper and tile were loose in the former coffee shop room (T.181), the kitchen freezer compartment walls were falling apart (T.181, 339. 386-387, Plaintiffs' Exhibits E and G), the bathroom basins and fixtures needed to be cleaned and repaired (T.181, 315, 389, Plaintiffs' Exhibit F), the kitchen dishwashing area floor needed repair (T.182, 307, 315, 339, 341, 354, 390), the kitchen walls needed to be cleaned and painted (T.182, 345-346), the dumbwaiter did not operate and the dumbwaiter had a 2' x 3' hole in the wall (T.182), the public restroom floor tile was in bad shape and there were holes in the walls (T.182-183, 315-316, Plaintiffs' Exhibit D), the shrubbery was dying for lack of care (T.185), the basement drain needed to be fixed (T.185), and the walls, ceiling and fixtures in the blocked off restrooms were broken or knocked out (T.185).

Appellant testified he was finished with the business (T.398) and intended to get out of the business by

selling it back to the respondents (T.399) or subleasing it with an option to buy to a new operator (T.422). It was in this context that appellant intended to renew the lease for a subsequent term (T.177) and that respondent informed the appellant that commencing October 1, 1974, his monthly rent would be \$900 per month (T.178, Defendant's Exhibit 3).

During the months of March through September, 1974, the respondents and appellant met together several times to renegotiate the rent (T.178, 179). Among the factors respondents discussed were the rising costs of living and the fact they were realizing little or no profit from their investment (T.178, 375). Appellant claimed he wasn't making enough money to pay any increased rent and he wouldn't pay more rent (T.179, 376). During their discussions as the lease neared the end, the respondents pointed out to appellant that he had not been maintaining the building in a good state of repair (T.179-180) and served upon him their demand (T.184, 185, Plaintiffs' Exhibit I) that the maintenance and repairs therein specified be completed within 30 days or the lease would be terminated and forfeited pursuant to paragraph 20 of the lease (T.186, Plaintiffs' Exhibit A).

Appellant responded to the demand by letter dated October 15, 1974, denying for the most part that any repairs

or maintenance was needed. During a meeting between the parties in the office of Mr. King in early November, 1974, the appellant replied that he would make the repairs he thought were needed when he felt like it (T.187). He later stated he had no obligation to spend a large amount of money to keep the premises in good repair until the monthly rental had been renegotiated (T.388, 397).

The lease rent for each renewal period was to be renegotiated based on "[f]actors of tax increases, cost of business increases or decreases, business volume and success, and insurance costs and other reasonable allowances."

(Exhibit D to Plaintiffs' Exhibit A)

At this point no agreement had been reached fixing a new monthly rental. Further correspondence was exchanged regarding the factors each party thought should control in arriving at a new monthly rental. The appellant pointed out that no increased rent was warranted because:

- (a) real property taxes had declined 6 percent over the past three years;
- (b) personal property taxes had remained the same;
- (c) the cost of doing business had risen 81 percent; and

(d) business volume had declined 24 percent
(Plaintiffs' Exhibits K, Y and Z).

At trial, appellant pointed out that the leased machinery and equipment was in constant need of repairs and he had unceasing expenses (T.385, 388). This, however, is not borne out by his books and records (Plaintiffs' Exhibits FF, GG, HH and II).

The respondents replied saying they sought a fair rate of return on their investment and that, all factors considered, it should be over \$900 per month. They believed this was warranted based on

- (a) the annual depreciation assuming the building was replaced at current costs;
- (b) the current rental per square foot of the space paid by similar businesses; and
- (c) the annual return one would receive if the property were sold and the proceeds invested in interest bearing accounts (Plaintiffs' Exhibit C).

Although further correspondence was exchanged (Plaintiffs' Exhibits L, P and Q and Defendant's Exhibit 5), no agreement was reached. During this period of time, Roy City informed appellant that fire exits had to be installed

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